Devon

County Council
You can view the agenda on the website
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code
To:  The Members of the County Hall
Exeter Highways and Topsham Road
Traffic Orders Committee Exeter
Devon
EX2 4QD
Date: 12 June 2023 Contact: Gerry Rufolo, 01392 382299

Email: gerry.rufolo@devon.gov.uk

EXETER HIGHWAYS AND TRAFFIC ORDERS COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 20th June, 2023

A meeting of the Exeter Highways and Traffic Orders Committee is to be held on the
above date at 10.30 am at Committee Suite - Daw - County Hall, Exeter to consider
the following matters.

Donna Manson
Chief Executive

AGENDA

PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Election of Chair and Vice Chair

In accordance with the County Council’s Constitution, the Chair and Vice Chair
must be County Councillors. All Members may vote.

3 Iltems Requiring Urgent Attention

Items which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered at the meeting
as matters of urgency.


https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy

4 Active Streets Heavitree and Whipton Trial Scheme

Report of the Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport
(CET/23/38), attached (Pages 1 — 26).

Impact Assessment of the Heavitree and Whipton Active Streets Trial, attached
(Pages 27 — 56).

PART Il - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PUBLIC
AND PRESS

Nil

Part Il Reports

Members are reminded that Part Il reports contain exempt information and should
therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any
other person(s). Members are also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports
carefully and are therefore invited to return them to the Democratic Services Officer
at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.

Agenda ltems and Attendance of District & Town/Parish Councillors

Under the provisions of Standing Order 23, any member of the HATOC (including
the District Council representatives) may put an item on the Agenda for the HATOC
relevant to the functions of the Committee, subject to them giving notice in writing to
the Chief Executive of the matter to be discussed by 9.00am on the eighth working
day before the meeting.

Any member of the District Council for the area covered by the HATOC who is not a
member of the Committee, or a Town or Parish Councillor within the area covered by
the HATOC, may, after giving 24 hours’ notice in writing to the Chief Executive,
attend and speak to any item on the Agenda with the consent of the Committee. For
further information please contact the relevant Clerk.



MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS

Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD

Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor
parking at County Hall and bus routes.

Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information
see the Travel Devon webpages.

The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.

Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504
beforehand.

Membership of a Committee
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.

Committee Terms of Reference

For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee,
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.

Access to Information

Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website

Public Participation

The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting.

In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice.

Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings

The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages



https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://www.traveldevon.info/cycle/
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=416&MId=2487&Ver=4&info=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so,
as directed by the Chair. Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed.
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic
Services Officer in attendance.

Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.

Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council

It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking
place on that item.

WiFI
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall.

Fire

In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest
available exit following the fire exit signs. If doors fail to unlock press the Green
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park
behind Bellair.

First Aid
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.

Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council
Chamber

Alternative Formats

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall,
Exeter, EX2 4QD.

Induction Loop available

@



mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk

Agenda Item 4

CET/23/38

Exeter Highways and Traffic Orders Committee

20 June 2023

Active Streets Heavitree and Whipton Trial Scheme

Report of the Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Committee before taking effect.

1) Recommendation

That the Committee be asked to:

(a) approve the implementation of a trial modal filter package for the Heavitree and
Whipton area, as illustrated in Appendix 1, at an estimated cost of up to £190,000;

(b)  approve the implementation of the Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders required
to implement the trial; and

(c) give delegated authority to the Director of Climate Change, Environment and
Transport, in consultation with the Highways and Traffic Orders Committee (HATOC)
Chair and local County Council Members, to approve minor changes to the scheme
design.

2) Background / Introduction

For the purposes of this report, ‘Heavitree and Whipton’ is an area bounded by the B3212
Pinhoe Road, B3181 Hill Barton Road, B3183 Fore Street (Heavitree)/East Wonford
Hill/Honiton Road and Polsloe Road, as shown in the map below. It is a largely residential
area, with a population of approximately 17,000 people, according to the 2021 Census.

As shown in Figure 1, the area contains several schools, green spaces, shops and medical
facilities. These amenities generate significant volumes of short-distance trips, which would
be feasible to walk or cycle for many residents. The E3 strategic cycle route runs east-west
across the area and provides onward connections to Newtown and Exeter City Centre, and
the E12 cycle route runs north-south and provides links to Wonford and Marsh Barton. It
also has several bus services, which connect the area to Exeter city centre, Wonford, Digby
and the Quay, and Polsloe Bridge railway station provides links to Exmouth, Topsham,
Marsh Barton (following the imminent opening of Marsh Barton station) and Newton Abbot,
as well as connections to mainline services from Exeter St David’s Station. The area is
therefore well connected for sustainable travel journeys.

Page 1



Agenda ltem 4

> | Heavitree and Whipton |

b Area Overview

Boundary Roads

ST o Mg e S 11 ST N
G-l [TRCT .
e s ) ST AN ey
E Rail Station

ﬁ Shops

I
. = mmmmm | BusRoutes

Medical

E_? ﬁ School

Ta ! \
* Green Space 1

P T AN e BNl AN AIS XN

HonitonRd |°

© Crown copyright. All rights

reserved. 100019783. 2023 E

Figure 1: Overview of ameniﬁes W|th|n Heawtree and Whlpton area.

There are several north-south routes between Pinhoe Road (B3212) and Heavitree Road
(B3183) which are likely to be used by through traffic as well as residential traffic,
increasing volumes of traffic passing through the area and impacting upon the amenity of
the local area. As shown in Figure 2, on many residential streets within the area, traffic
volumes exceed 2000 vehicles per day. According to the Department for Transport’s Cycle
Infrastructure Design guidance, people are less likely to choose to cycle when traffic
volumes are over 2000 vehicles a day.

Page 2



Agenda Item 4

£\ | Heavitree and Whipton
>/ 2022 Traffic Flows

|.F—

P WhIpESR

“ .F'olsi.oe\ : < --.
"\ Playing
‘ﬁ\_ EXE::I E R K ?

| Cunt.u:ry

1. Pleasure

1. Ground )/

Boundary Roads Rail 5tation

/ /1 Wonford Hill M=t/ 5
= e | BusRoutes HHHK Flow on BoundaryRoad |, g s

. Medical Flow on Residential Road N Y~
D ﬁ school . . A PN -;:
r—lrL|rL-! | s v

Figure 2: Baseline 12- hour (07: 00 19 00) vehlcular trafflc rows based on 2022 data,
rounded to 2 significant figures.

© Crown copyright. All rights
reserved. 100019783, 2023

Since 2020, Devon County Council has been engaging with the local community to
understand the issues affecting residential streets in the area and develop measures to
address these. This process has indicated that the effects of traffic and the lack of priority
for walking and cycling are perceived as key issues by residents in the area. In light of this,
several interventions have already been delivered, including changes to slow traffic speeds
at the Whipton Lane/Sweetbrier Lane Roundabout, modal filters to create quieter streets on
Homefield Road and Chard Road, and revised signage to permit two-way cycling on Park
Place.

Following two public consultation exercises and additional engagement with key
stakeholders, this report seeks approval to trial a series of additional interventions in the
area to reduce traffic movements in the residential neighbourhood. This aims to create a
safer and more attractive environment for walking, wheeling and cycling while ensuring that
all properties would remain accessible by car. Traffic volumes will be significantly reduced
on the residential streets, by removing most ‘through’ vehicular traffic, i.e. traffic not
travelling to or from properties in Heavitree and Whipton, but rather using residential streets
to travel between boundary roads.

Page 3



Agenda Item 4

3) Proposal
Proposed Scheme design

It is proposed to trial a series of interventions encompassing the residential streets in
Heavitree and Whipton, using a combination of:
¢ Physical modal filters, i.e. planters or bollards, which prevent the passage of all
motor vehicles; and
e Bus gates, which use signage to prohibit vehicular traffic, except for buses,
emergency vehicles and certain other exempt classes of vehicle. Local authority
vehicles (including refuse collection) will be allowed to use the bus gates where
necessary. However, taxis and private hire vehicles will not be allowed to use the
bus gates. These restrictions will be enforceable by the police.

Figure 3: Physical modal filter on Homefield Rbad iﬂ) and bus gate on Wonford
Road (right).

The locations of proposed and existing filters are detailed in the map and table below, with
more detail in Appendix 1:

Page 4



Agenda Item 4

Vehicular Access:
Proposed Trial Scheme

- -‘:"'4'_-"'-.-'3: o T o Pinhoe Rd . + 5
- ~—=| Polsloe - -
— Bridge

/_f, RN Whlpton g

W\ My Whipton
': Whipton Hospital

Barton School

(MEXETERS ik,

- |-‘ | Ladysmith | ISCA e { $ Ellen Tinkham
= b - S x =
: | School \ Higher ol College _.
522 Cemetery L _ __

Heavitree
Pleasure
Ground

N -_ South Lawn
Practice

| stNicholas |
School |

- UPrE] | Honiton Rd
Accessfrom Polsloe Rd & Pinhoe Rd b,

Access from Pinhoe Rd LR o Existing Physical Filter

Access from Honiton Rd, Hill Barton Rd & Pinhoe Rd 77 Wonford Hill . . Proposed Bus Gate/Physical Filter
Access from PolsloeRd - Crown copyright. All rights Boundary Roads

Access from Fore 5t & EastWenford Hill Lim reserved. 100019783, 2023 /(| - m— wm—| BusRoutes

Figure 4: Overview of vehicular access under proposed trial scheme.

Road Location Filter type
Ladysmith Road | At Park Road/Commins Road Bus gate
Roundabout

St Marks Avenue | On slip road between Ladysmith Road | Physical modal filter
Roundabout and main section of St
Marks Avenue

Hamlin Lane Between Wykes Road and Hamlin Physical modal filter
Gardens

Whipton Lane Between Whiteway Drive and Georges | Bus gate
Close

Vaughan Road Between Whipton Lane and Vaughan | Physical modal filter
Rise

Scheme plans for the proposed modal filters are included in Appendix 1. A bespoke signing
plan is in development to help navigation of the local road network following the proposed
changes.

Together, the package of proposed modal filters is considered to remove nearly all

vehicular through routes; however vehicular access is retained to all properties albeit in
some cases via different access points.

Page 5



Agenda ltem 4

The existing permanent modal filters on Homefield Road and Chard Road will be retained
during the trial and would remain if the trial scheme is subsequently removed.

The design of the proposed scheme has been developed through engagement with the
local community and other key stakeholders, as documented in Section 5 below. This has
enabled initial proposals to be refined to address localised concerns, whilst ensuring the
scheme remains effective in removing through vehicular routes. The filter locations have
also been influenced by the need to provide turning heads for vehicles which are prohibited
from passing the filters and in response to feedback from emergency services.

If approved, the scheme would be trialled under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order
(ETRO) for a period of up to 18 months, commencing in August 2023.

Expected impacts

Similar traffic reduction schemes implemented elsewhere have demonstrated significant
reduction in vehicular traffic on residential streets, by removing some or all of the traffic
previously using these streets as through routes. Some of these vehicular trips may be
displaced onto other roads, leading to increase in congestion on the boundary roads.

However, evidence suggests there is typically an overall reduction in vehicular trips
following implementation of such schemes. This is thought to be because the quieter
residential streets enable or encourage some people to walk, wheel or cycle short distance
trips which would previously have been unattractive, for example due to traffic pollution or
road safety concerns.

For example, an evaluation of a range of schemes recently implemented in London found
the following:

e Traffic on residential roads reduced by an average of 45%

e Traffic on boundary roads increased by an average of 5%

o Traffic overall reduced by an average of 9%.

Additionally, evidence from modal filters recently installed in Exeter has shown significant
reductions in vehicular traffic, and increases in active travel, as shown in the table below.

ho : :
Modal Before Vehicles Active Vehicles Active Vehicles Active
. Travel After Date Travel Travel
Filter Date Before After Change
Before After Change
Dé‘é‘;%” 17/10/2019 | 6028 345 18/10/2022 | 1674 403 72% +17%
ng;%rd 17/10/2019 | 5649 308 18/10/2022 | 1862 367 67% +19%
Chard 1 o o
e 7/09/2019 | 1212 171 10/06/2021 87 187 -93% +9%
Hoggée'd 02/07/2019 | 1110 81 15/09/2022 | 340 128 -69% +58%
D\j’\fatfkr S | 17/002019 | 672 247 23/09/2021 246 256 63% +4%

' Active travel = walking and cycling for Doctors Walk, cycling only for all other locations.

Page 6



Agenda Item 4

— - -
Modal Before Vehicles Active Vehicles Active Vehicles Active
. Travel After Date Travel Travel
Filter Date Before After Change
Before After Change
gt‘lf:gt’; 17/10/19 6259 735 15/09/2022 | 3108 796 -50% 8%
Overall 20930 1887 7317 2137 -65% +13%

However, the extent of any changes in a given area will depend on various factors,
including:
e The area’s demographics, including levels of car ownership;
¢ The extent to which the scheme eliminates through vehicular routes in an area; and
e The provision of complementary measures, such as engagement events, reduced
bus fares or taster events for example cycle buddy schemes or guided walks.

Restricting motor vehicle access is recommended by the National Institute for Health and
Care Excellence in their guidance for improving the physical environment to support
physical activity. Reducing vehicular traffic can also improve streets’ performance against
many of the Healthy Street Indicators?, which provide an evidence-based approach for
assessing the human experience of being on streets.

Creating quieter streets can help facilitate social interactions between neighbours and
reducing traffic volumes can result in residents feeling more ‘at home’ in their
neighbourhoods with more space for outdoor play and conversation. This in turn may
improve public health and wellbeing. Therefore, it is considered that this scheme could build
upon the vibrant community spirit which already exists in the area, as evidenced by the
‘Greening Heavitree’ group helping to maintain the planting in the modal filters installed
previously, and the work of the Park Life Heavitree community charity*. Such an approach
is consistent with wider city initiatives including the Exeter City Council-led Sport England
Live and Move programme, which has been targeting neighbourhood areas to create more
opportunities for people to be active in their daily lives to increase overall wellbeing.

Encouraging people to switch from driving to walking, wheeling or cycling for short trips is in
line with several strategies produced or supported by the County Council, including the
Strategic Plan (see Section 6 below), Exeter Transport Strategy and Devon Carbon Plan.
Encouraging modal shift can help people become more physically active, improving
physical and mental wellbeing. Additionally, this can reduce traffic congestion, pollution and
noise, with social and environmental benefits.

Communications and engagement

During the first six months of the trial, there will be a statutory consultation on the
Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETROs) required to implement it. This will enable
local residents and stakeholders to provide feedback on the changes and inform next steps.
Residents within the Heavitree and Whipton area, and other stakeholders, will be notified of
the statutory consultation.

2 The Queen Street scheme introduced a one-way system for general vehicular traffic (with two-way access
maintained for buses, taxis and people walking and cycling), rather than filtering traffic in both directions, as
with the other schemes listed.

3 www.healthystreets.com

4 www.parklifeheavitree.org.uk

Page 7


http://www.healthystreets.com/
http://www.parklifeheavitree.org.uk/

Agenda ltem 4

If necessary, the ETRO legislation allows the scheme to be modified to address location-
specific concerns. However, this would re-start the six month statutory consultation period.

A wider communications and engagement programme is in development with specialist
support and will be implemented before and during the scheme trial. This is likely to include
improved online (e.g. webpages) and offline (e.g. leaflets/posters) publicity materials, to:
e Explain the rationale for the proposed changes
e Help residents, businesses and other stakeholders understand how the changes
may affect their journeys
e Address queries or comments that are frequently raised by residents
e Provide updates on the scheme trial, e.g. in the event of modifications to address
location-specific concerns.

It is also proposed to hold community engagement activities during the trial period, to
capture additional evidence regarding the impacts of the changes. Details of these
engagement activities will be provided on the scheme webpage and will also be circulated
to relevant local stakeholders.

Any comments submitted during the consultations will be considered by the committee
before a final decision will be made on whether or not to make the restrictions permanent.

4) Options / Alternatives

Alternative options include implementing traffic reducing interventions of other forms, using
different types of infrastructure to reduce traffic/support active travel, and doing nothing.

Other options for reducing vehicular traffic

As documented in Section 5 below, the Heavitree and Whipton Phase 2 Consultation
invited feedback on a variety of options for local traffic reduction, which would have affected
vehicular routes through Heavitree and Whipton to varying extents.

Options which only close certain through vehicular routes (e.g. north-south routes only)
would have reduced impacts on people making journeys by car, compared to the proposed
scheme. However, these options would do less to enable active travel, as traffic volumes in
the Heavitree and Whipton area would likely be higher than under the proposed scheme.
Furthermore, options closing only certain routes were not well-received during the Phase 2
consultation (see Section 5 below).

Alternatively, there are other options for interventions which would also close all through
vehicular routes but would have modal filters in different locations; these would include the
Option 4 originally consulted upon. However, alternative filter locations are constrained by
the need to ensure turning heads are provided for vehicles and may have additional
adverse impacts on residents, for example by affecting vehicular access to certain
destinations, such as South Lawn Medical Practice.

Page 8



Agenda Item 4

Other types of infrastructure

‘No Vehicles (Except for Access)’ signage and/or other gateway features could be used to
deter through vehicular traffic from entering the Heavitree and Whipton residential area.
However, these would be less effective in reducing traffic, as they would not materially
impact the attractiveness of routes through the area. Enforcement of such measures would
also be challenging, as it would be difficult for the police or other agencies to determine
whether drivers were legitimately accessing locations within the area.

Additional traffic calming measures could also be implemented, e.g. additional chicanes
and/or humps. As noted in Section 5 below, such measures were largely well-received
during the Phase 2 Consultation. However, these would be more costly than modal filters to
implement on an area-wide basis and may reduce traffic volumes less.

Another option would be to provide dedicated cycle facilities on the residential streets, to
separate people cycling from vehicular traffic. However, implementing such measures on
an area-wide basis would be significantly more costly than modal filters, to the extent that
this would be unaffordable within current budgets. Constructing such facilities would also
likely require the removal of significant amounts of parking, adversely impacting residents
who park on these streets. Additionally, this would be less likely to deliver the wider benefits
of quieter streets, reduced air pollution and increased community interactions.

Do nothing (maintain current traffic arrangements)

Maintaining the current traffic arrangements would have the least impact on people making
journeys by car or taxi, as they would continue to be able to use their existing routes. This
would also mean that pollutant and greenhouse gas emissions associated with individual
journeys would be unaffected, and there would be no traffic displaced onto boundary roads.
However, traffic volumes on residential streets would remain the same, so there would be
no encouragement to switch to walking, wheeling or cycling for short distance trips.
Physical activity would not improve, meaning health benefits would not be realised, and the
current negative impacts of traffic would remain.

5) Consultations / Representations / Technical Data

The proposed scheme has been developed through extensive engagement with the local
community and other key stakeholders. This is summarised below, with further details
available at www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets.

Heavitree and Whipton Consultation Phase 1 (November — December 2020)

The Phase 1 Consultation invited members of the community to express their views on
various aspects of local streets, including traffic, cycling, walking, public transport, parking
and play and recreation facilities.

577 users responded to this consultation, of which 68% indicated they lived in Heavitree or
Whipton (many of the other respondents either worked or had family/friends in the area).
Public transport and play and recreation were generally supported, however the following
issues were raised:

Page 9


http://www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets
https://www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets/heavitree-and-whipton-phase-1-consultation/

Agenda ltem 4

The effect of traffic on the attractiveness of the area
The level of priority given to cycling

The level of priority given to walking

The contribution of parking to pollution

Facilities for electric vehicle charging.

In light of this, Devon County Council developed potential options to address the effects of
traffic and the priority given to cycling and walking in the area. These were consulted upon
during Phase 2.

Heavitree and Whipton Consultation Phase 2 (September — October 2021)

The Phase 2 Consultation invited feedback on three potential localised interventions to
reduce traffic speeds and support walking and cycling in Heavitree and Whipton:
e Widening of the existing chicanes on Sweetbrier Lane, between Hamlin Lane and
Whipton Lane;
e Construction of raised crossings at the Sweetbrier Lane/Whipton Lane roundabout;
and
e Construction of a raised crossing and a priority crossing at the Whipton
Lane/Georges Close junction.

Feedback regarding these localised interventions was largely positive, with all 3 receiving
more responses in support than in opposition. The Sweetbrier Lane/Whipton Lane
roundabout scheme was subsequently approved by HATOC in July 2022 and constructed
in November 2022.

In addition, feedback was invited on potential options for a modal filter scheme covering
Heavitree and Whipton. These proposals were developed in view of their potential to
significantly reduce traffic across the area and improve conditions for walking and cycling at
a significantly lower total cost than other potential interventions, such as construction of
dedicated cycle lanes. The options consulted on were as follows:
¢ Option 1 - installation of 2 physical modal filters and 3 bus gates to remove through
traffic from north-south routes across Heavitree and Whipton;
e Option 2 — installation of 3 physical modal filters and 2 bus gates to remove through
traffic from north-south routes across Heavitree and Whipton;
e Option 3 — installation of 4 bus gates to remove through traffic from east-west
routes across Heavitree and Whipton; and
e Option 4 — installation of 4 physical modal filters and 4 bus gates to remove through
traffic from all routes across Heavitree and Whipton.

All of the options presented received more responses in opposition than in support, as
detailed in the table below:

Resp?rllldents [S)lt;g?;i Disagree | Neutral | Agree SX;pe%y Resggzec‘ilents
Option 1 61% 11% 7% 12% 8% 1121
Option 2 52% 15% 8% 14% 11% 969
Option 3 64% 14% 6% 10% 6% 965
Option 4 48% 5% 3% 7% 36% 1130

Page 10


https://www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets/heavitree-and-whipton-phase-2-consultation/

Agenda Item 4

When only those indicated that they were residents of Heavitree and Whipton are included,

the breakdown of responses is as follows:

ReI;(i):earllts glt:;;?x Disagree | Neutral | Agree Sz'tg)peg;y Res;c?rtladlents
Option 1 61% 11% 7% 11% 9% 853
Option 2 51% 15% 8% 14% 12% 743
Option 3 64% 14% 6% 9% 6% 738
Option 4 51% 6% 4% 8% 32% 805

However, further analysis showed that the balance was approximately fifty fifty between
respondents supporting at least one option and respondents not supporting any options. As
documented above, Option 4, which would have closed all through routes, was the most
supported of the options presented. Therefore, analysis was undertaken of the qualitative
comments provided regarding this option, to identify location-specific concerns which may
have generated opposition. The most common comments are detailed in the map and table

below:

Location-Specific
Comments for Option 4

S =2 T e A

AT

1 Pleaﬁurt.

Existing Modal Filter (Permanent,/Temporary)
Proposed Bus Gate/Physical Modal Filter
Boundary Roads

Route Open to Through Traffic

Quiet Route

: Ground / \

Traffic-Free Route |
Bus Route

Motor vehicle exit

SWhiptonza

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved.

-4 100019783. 2021

=

Figure 5: Map of location-specific comments regardlng Optlon 4 from Phase 2

Consultation.

Page 11



Agenda ltem 4

Label | Description No. comments

A A filter should be added to reduce through traffic on Park Road | 4

B The proposals could cause congestion at the North 4
Street/Heavitree Road junction

C The proposals could cause difficulties accessing the South 5
Lawn Medical Practice

D The proposed Hamlin Lane filter should be moved north 4

E The proposals could cause congestion at the Hamlin 16
Lane/Pinhoe Road (Polsloe Bridge) junction

F Access to Heavitree Fore Street from the Chard 25
Road/Sweetbrier Lane area should be retained

G The proposals would cause difficulties accessing Whipton from | 4
Thornpark Rise

H Filters should be added to reduce through traffic in Whipton 4

In light of these location-specific comments, a number of modifications were made to the
emerging trial scheme design. In particular, a physical modal filter on Sweetbrier Lane was
removed, and the bus gate on Hamlin Lane was moved northwards and converted to a
physical modal filter. These changes would improve vehicular access from the Sweetbrier
Lane area to the South Lawn Medical Practice and onto Fore Street/Honiton Road, whilst
also reducing traffic volumes at the Polsloe Bridge junction.

Further Engagement with Stakeholders

Following the initial revisions to the scheme design described above, further engagement
has also been undertaken with key stakeholders, including:

Emergency services

Public health clinicians

Volunteers providing transport to medical appointments

Disability groups

The waste collection authority.

The emergency services and public health clinicians were broadly supportive in principle of
the proposed scheme, recognising the potential for the scheme to increase physical activity
levels, reduce pollution and reduce road traffic collisions. However, the representative of
South Western Ambulance Service indicated that the proposed Whipton Lane South modal
filter could cause difficulties for ambulances travelling to or from the Royal Devon & Exeter
Hospital (Wonford). Therefore, this filter has been removed from the proposed scheme.

Living Options Devon, which exists to ‘empower disabled people’ across the South West,
raised several concerns regarding traffic reduction interventions in general, which are
detailed and responded to in the table below:

Living Options Devon comment DCC response

Bollards/planters making streets too | The modal filters have been designed in

narrow to get through on some non- accordance with the latest inclusivity and cycle
standard cycles/mobility equipment infrastructure design guidance. The gaps
between bollards/planters will be large enough to

Page 12



Agenda Item 4

Living Options Devon comment DCC response
accommodate non-standard cycles/mobility
equipment.
Blocked drop kerbs No drop kerbs will be blocked by the proposed
modal filters.
Excessively long vehicular routes to It is acknowledged that some vehicular routes
some addresses including to and may be increased in length by the proposals.
from schools which means that start | However, revisions to the scheme design have
finish times for people will have to reduced vehicular journey distances to some
increase destinations (e.g. South Lawn Medical Practice)

from much of the Heavitree and Whipton area,
when compared with the previous consultation

proposals.
Increased traffic and pollution on As detailed above, previous studies of similar
some boundary roads schemes have shown that some traffic often

‘evaporates’ rather than being displaced to the
boundary roads, due to people switching from
driving to walking or cycling for short trips. If
implemented, DCC will monitor traffic flows
during the trial period, to evaluate the extent of
any changes.

Existing Accessible parking spaces No disabled parking spaces will be removed.
being moved/removed
Route planning factoring in the hilly The publicity materials to be circulated before

geography of that part of Exeter and during the trial period will assist with route
planning for people driving, walking, wheeling
and cycling.

Clear communication with the DCC will provide accessible publicity materials, to

Visually Impaired and others for who | ensure visually impaired people and other

(and their assistance dogs) changes | disabled people can easily understand the

to familiar routes are particularly hard | information. DCC will also continue to engage
to navigate with disability groups during the trial period, so
that any issues can be addressed as quickly as
practicable.

Representatives of the RNIB (Royal National Institute of Blind People) expressed support in
principle for the proposed scheme. They noted that the benefits of similar schemes to blind
and partially-sighted people are often significant, as the reduced traffic volumes can make
residential streets significantly safer to navigate. In their opinion, these benefits generally
significantly outweigh the disbenefits arising from increased journey lengths.

The RNIB also shared an Inclusive Street Design checklist, which is applied to this
proposed scheme in Appendix 2 below.

Officers from the local waste collection authority, Exeter City Council, noted that the
scheme is likely to increase the distance of some collection rounds. To partially mitigate
this, local authority vehicles (including refuse collection) will be permitted to use the bus
gates when required. Additionally, the Vaughan Road physical modal filter has been located
north of Vaughan Rise, to enable refuse collection vehicles to safely turn around after

Page 13



Agenda ltem 4

serving Vaughan Rise. If the scheme is implemented, officers from Devon County Council
and Exeter City Council will liaise further to understand the impacts of the scheme.

Devon County Council officers will also be meeting with the Friends of the Health Centre at
the South Lawn Medical Practice in advance of this HATOC meeting.

6) Strategic Plan

The proposed scheme would significantly prioritise sustainable travel within Heavitree and
Whipton, in particular walking, wheeling and cycling, by reducing traffic on residential
streets. By doing so, it would likely encourage more people to travel actively, benefitting
their health and wellbeing.

Additionally, buses would be able to pass through the bus gates, and they would likely
experience reduced congestion when travelling through the residential area. However,
buses on the B3212 (Pinhoe Road) and B3183 (Fore Street/East Wonford Hill/Honiton
Road) corridors may experience increased congestion, due to traffic displacement from
residential streets. There is therefore a possible conflict between these proposals and those
included within Devon County Council’s Bus Service Improvement Plan®, which seeks to
improve bus journey times and journey time reliability on these and other corridors, and
thus encourage modal shift from car to bus.

As documented in Section 3 above, research suggests that reducing traffic on residential
streets can encourage greater levels of interaction between neighbours, promoting
community cohesion.

The proposed scheme may give children and younger people more confidence and greater
independence to walk, wheel or cycle around their neighbourhood, reducing social isolation
among this section of society. For people reliant on cars or taxis, there will be a slight
increase in their journey distance and cost.

In addition, the reduced traffic on residential streets may reduce future maintenance
requirements.

The table below summarises how the proposals would impact achievement of relevant
Strategic Plan actions according to a seven-point scale, whereby -3 represents a large
negative impact and +3 represents a large positive impact.

Strategic Plan priority Strategic Plan action Alignment
Responding to the climate Prioritise sustainable travel and +2 (Moderate
emergency transport positive)
Responding to the climate Encourage sustainable lifestyles +2 (Moderate
emergency positive)
Investing in Devon's Maintain and, where necessary, improve | +2 (Moderate
economic recovery our highway network and improve positive)
sustainable transport options
Tackling poverty and Promote community cohesion +1 (Slight
inequality positive)

5 www.traveldevon.info/bus/bsip/

Page 14


http://www.traveldevon.info/bus/bsip/

Agenda Item 4

Strategic Plan priority Strategic Plan action Alignment
Improving health and Give people greater opportunities for +2 (Moderate
wellbeing walking and cycling to increase their positive)
physical activity
Helping communities to be | Tackle social isolation, particularly 0 (Neutral)
safe, connected and among older, younger and disabled
resilient people, and those with a long-term
illness
Helping communities to be | Enable a range of transport options, +1 (Slight
safe, connected and including public transport positive)
resilient

The proposal would contribute to the aim of being a child-friendly Devon, as children can be
particularly impacted by traffic and less able to safely navigate busy roads. Therefore,
reducing traffic on residential streets could help support children to walk, wheel or cycle
more, and may enable them to make more journeys independently, improving their self-
confidence and wellbeing. The quieter streets may also facilitate additional outdoor
recreation opportunities.

7) Financial Considerations

The estimated cost of the trial scheme is up to £190,000. This includes the costs of
installing the proposed modal filters, design and supervision fees, communications and
engagement during the trial, and monitoring of the trial’s impacts on traffic and
walking/cycling flows.

This trial will be funded from Capability and Ambition Fund funding secured from Active
Travel England.

If it is subsequently decided to make the changes permanent, capital funding would be
required to construct a permanent scheme.

8) Legal Considerations

The proposed trial would be implemented through Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders
(ETROs). These allow changes to traffic regulations to be introduced on a temporary basis,
so that their impacts can be better understood before deciding whether to make the
changes permanent. They also allow for modifications to be made during the initial trial
period, for example to address location-specific concerns.

ETROs can remain in place for a maximum of 18 months, following which the changes
must either be removed or made permanent (using permanent Traffic Regulation Orders).

There is no requirement to undertake a statutory consultation prior to implementing ETROs.
However, formal objections can be made during the first 6 months after the making of
ETROs. If an ETRO is modified during the trial period, the 6-month period for making formal
objections restarts. All comments received will be fully considered.

When making a Traffic Regulation Order, it is the County Council’s responsibility to ensure
that all relevant legislation is complied with. This includes Section 122 of the Road Traffic

Page 15



Agenda ltem 4

Regulation Act 1984 that states that it is the duty of a local authority, so far as practicable,
to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic
(including pedestrians) and the provision of parking facilities.

With reference to the above duty, this scheme is likely to enable pedestrians and cyclists to
travel more expeditiously and safely within the Heavitree and Whipton area. While the aim
of the scheme is to reduce overall traffic volumes by encouraging more short-distance trips
to be made sustainably, there will likely be displacement of through traffic onto the
boundary roads which operate at capacity during peak times. The full impacts will be
monitored during the trial of the scheme to inform future decisions on whether to amend the
scheme or make it permanent.

9) Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change)

The proposed scheme is aligned with several transport-related actions in the Devon Carbon
Plan:
e Reallocating road capacity to sustainable modes (action T11);
e Implementing filtered permeability to promote sustainable travel (action T12); and
e Supporting employers to make commuting by active transport more attractive (action
T26), by providing quieter routes for walking and cycling to employment sites.

Implementing filtered permeability, i.e. filtering out through vehicular traffic on certain
streets, is also supported in Exeter City Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (action 1).

The proposed scheme is expected to impact the environment in two principal ways:
e Causing people to change the routes they use to make journeys, due to certain
roads being closed to through vehicular traffic; and
e Causing people to change their mode of transport, for example to switch from driving
to walking, wheeling or cycling, due to traffic volumes reducing on certain roads.

Within the Heavitree and Whipton residential area, the impact on the environment is
expected to be beneficial, due to traffic (and associated noise and pollution) reducing.
However, there may be an adverse impact on the environment on certain boundary roads,
due to traffic reassigning onto these roads from the residential streets, including East
Wonford Hill, which currently has the highest recorded levels of air pollution within Exeter.

Due to certain vehicular routes becoming longer, the scheme may increase the greenhouse
gas emissions generated by certain individual trips. However, as explained in Section 3, the
total number of vehicular trips across the area (encompassing both residential streets and
boundary roads) is expected to reduce.

To assess the impacts of the scheme on traffic and walking/cycling levels, and hence on
the environment, a comprehensive monitoring programme has been developed. Baseline
flows are available from counts on both residential streets and boundary roads, which
would be compared with equivalent data recorded during the trial period. This could help
inform a decision whether or not to make the changes permanent.

Page 16



Agenda Item 4

10) Equality Considerations

Where relevant, in coming to a decision the Equality Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty
requires decision makers to give due regard to the need to:

e eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;

e advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking account
of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

o foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting understanding

in relation to the protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage
and civil partnership (for employment), pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation).

A decision maker may also consider other relevant factors such as caring responsibilities,
rural isolation or socio-economic disadvantage.

In progressing this particular scheme / proposal, an Impact Assessment has been prepared
which has been circulated separately to Exeter HATOC Members and also is available on
the Council’s website at https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/published

Members will need to consider the Impact Assessment for the purposes of this item /
meeting.

People who are less experienced at cycling and/or particularly susceptible to the impacts of
traffic, including children, older people and women, are expected to particularly benefit from
the reduced traffic. For individuals without access to a car, this may improve access to
opportunities such as education, employment and community activities.

The increase in length of some vehicular journeys may particularly impact people for whom
walking, wheeling or cycling is less feasible, which includes some disabled people and
older people. However, it should also be noted that the scheme may make it easier for
people wheeling to navigate the area, as it is likely to make wheeling on the road safer by
virtue of reducing traffic. Additionally, some blind, partially-sighted or deaf people, who may
have difficulties detecting approaching traffic, may find navigating the area safer, due to the
expected lower traffic volumes.

During the proposed trial period, further engagement would be undertaken with the local
community, including representatives or groups of people with protected characteristics,
such as disabled people and older people. This would enable the Council to further
evaluate the potential impacts of the trial scheme on different groups of people, prior to a
decision on making the scheme permanent.

11) Risk Management Considerations

This proposal has been assessed and all necessary safeguards or action have been taken
to safeguard the Council's position.

Page 17


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/4
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/published

Agenda ltem 4

In developing this proposed scheme, internal discussions have been undertaken to
evaluate the risks associated with the trial in relation to emergencies, such as flooding, in
response to which the Council is developing contingency plans.

As shown in the below map, emergency vehicles will be able to access the majority of the
Heavitree and Whipton area from all four boundary roads. A location of particular concern in
relation to flooding is the Vaughan Road railway bridge, however all vehicles will have
alternative routes avoiding this bridge in the event of an incident. For example, properties
between the railway bridge and the Whipton Lane bus gate/Vaughan Road physical modal
filter will be accessible from Hill Barton Road and Thornpark Rise.

, Emergency Vehicle Access:
|| Proposed Trial Scheme |

= ~a———

Whipton 0
Hospital

Whipton E4
Barton School \

| ) :Pblsic}o\

h Hamlin Ln a
P ﬂ \ E X E I t K"\ Playlng Fields S ey
R = Tt 35 = —USS
b | Ladysmith ¥ ISCA I I By . Ellen Tinkham \ —
': tﬂ;} School Higher i : -/ AR College 13

Cemetery
ry n :

South Lawn I-ll;avitree .'_‘ \& -

e P easure | o WAL
Practice < | StNicholas | 1
I Ground A : Nat:

P AL .| School =

e woHeavitree

HonitonRd |/

East

[ f 3(”‘- g A Existing PhysicalFilter
Access from allhoundarvroads 1] = . & wonford Hill ¢ - . . . Proposed Bus Gate/Physical Filter
Access from Pinhoe Rd S : '-’_ . A Crown copyrig|'.1t. Al rights. f Boundary Roads
Accessfrom Polsloe Rd R A reserved. 100019783. 2023 | e— — w—| Bus Routes

Figure 6: Emergency vehicle access under proposed trial scheme.

As noted above, the impact of such schemes can vary from location to location, due to
variations in demographics, for example levels of car ownership and age distributions. This
means that, for example, impacts of displaced traffic on journey times and junction
performance is subject to significant uncertainty. It therefore cannot be ruled out that delays
at certain junctions will increase.

In light of the above, it is proposed to implement a monitoring programme, including
pedestrian, cycle and traffic counts, to evaluate the trial scheme’s impacts. This could then
inform any decision on permanent changes.

To reduce the risk of delay to implementation of the scheme if approved by this committee,
road space booking requests have been placed for the works required to install the modal

Page 18



Agenda Item 4

filters. Emergency services and other key stakeholders will be notified of these planned
works, and the associated Temporary Traffic Regulation Notices are publicly available via
the One Network website. However, these works will only be undertaken if the trial scheme
is approved by this committee; if the scheme is not approved, the road space bookings will
be cancelled.

12) Summary / Conclusions / Reasons for Recommendations

The recommended scheme would implement a trial package of modal filters for the
Heavitree and Whipton residential area. This is recommended to reduce traffic volumes on
residential streets and support people to walk, wheel and cycle more often and improve
public health and wellbeing. These positive outcomes align well with various objectives in
the Devon Carbon Plan, Devon Strategic Plan and Exeter Transport Strategy, as detailed in
Section 9 as well as wider city initiatives in partnership with Exeter City Council. Whilst
there are consequences with regards to network management and street works, these will
be monitored and there will be options for feedback throughout the experimental trial.

The scheme has been developed following two phases of consultation with the local
community, and subsequent engagement with key stakeholders. This engagement has
enabled location-specific concerns regarding initial proposals to be addressed, so that the
scheme better meets the needs of the local community. There will be ongoing engagement
and consultation to understand the impacts of the trial.

Meg Booth
Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport

Electoral Divisions: Heavitree & Whipton Barton, St Sidwells & St James

Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers
Background Paper: Nil

Contact for enquiries:

Name: transportplanning-mailbox@devon.gov.uk

Telephone: 01392 383000
Address: Room 120, County Hall, Topsham Road, EX2 4QD

Page 19



0z abed

Appendix 1 to CET/23/38

Scheme Plans: 1 of 5 — Planter Details

e reares YL WEFCR P MCEMT RAL DATARRYD JEC TELTONETCEET (8051 3- DEVOM - 074 -EATF 2 HEA TREE AR ER WDE DOMEULTATIDN ACCESE TRIALY SWIFLIE D RANM CUNDR K MG DRANMZ ST0000513 WERHMF-007 FLAMTER DETALEDWE prinksd on 23 May

N 1AEO6, by Doy ENoL

Proposed red refro reflective

planter signs 250 100mm -

with Class RAZ reflectivity. |

B00mMmm
not including
feat or lid

L]

Proposead planters to be fixed to camiageway using

"L" brackets and 4Mo. k1 0:x100mm length masonry

bolts and washers. Bracket o be fixed to planters
using 8Mo. M10 coach screws and washers.
Planters must be levelled using timber shims.

ELEVATION A-A AND
ELEVATION BB

g

Notes

Do not scale.
Dirawing to be printed in colour.

All dimensions are in millimetres unless otherwise stated.

The exact extent and location of wooden planters to be
be agresd with the engineer on site.

DO NOT SCALE

Proposed 100 100x3000mm

fimber post bolted to planter _
with 4o, M10x200mm length
coach bolts, nuis and washers

B

BEW

A

Aa

PLAN VIEW OF

PROPOSED PLANTER

Planter to be constructed of 100<50mm
16 planed tanalised treated timber.

Wooden planter specification
- Timber to be pressure treated. Mo stain or finish

required.

- Minimurn timber thickness S0mm for durability.
- Planter to be lined with single rectangular piece of

heavy duty polythene plastic sheeting. Minimum
400 gauges.

- Lining to finish approximatety 20mm below the top

of the rim.

- Lining to be fixed using staples within the upper

haif of the planter ony.

- Lining te be laid flush to each face. To

accommodate intermal comers, sheeting must be
folded, with the excess plastic fixed flush in place
alza using staples. Plastic must not be cut to fit
cOomers.

- Small regular holes to be cut in the base of the

lining in line with gaps in base timber.

- To allow water to drain freely, a 10mm gap is

required between timber boards in the base of the
planter.

L L TE JESt 3 "

ECHFI W

DRNRG T

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

\\'\I)

This Fiovum, Barsid Fired, Ewster, EX1 107, UK
T44 [0} T30 ZO 70, F+44 {3) T3 Z97TH

Devonf®

County Councll

T

E3 CYCLE ROUTE
HEAVITREE AND NEWTOWN SECTION

PLANTER DETAILS
——— — —
NOTTO SCALE AM MM
" '?IE‘SEB :“::DK 3"'%:. - May I3
DEENNG Ve L3
70093513-WSP-HMF-007 FO1
(€ WSP UK Ltd

7 wa)| epusby



T¢ obed

Scheme Plans: 2 of 5 — Ladysmith Road Bus Gate and St Marks Avenue Physical Modal Filter

\V s

[EOSIHG DOULE TELLON
FESTECTCMENTENCED BT
B

B AP L TR ST L LT AT AR5 P MLV ACC

ARG ML
CHAITRE LS U T
[

NS TIG PG G AL

ERsTrG
ACLBTHBOLT

AR BACKTT .
T

XS THG S WY
XTI GE Y i WD
[y CEATRE LitE P PO
TR L8R LIS T
e

BLATERS BLACSED
FLANTER S BLAHED T,
T

INSET A- e

e

= Y ' i i “ R 1
H y | Tld ity .
§ () o L R
i} PV e
IR I o e — R - 1
- o
.. ! nam " — 4 3 !
r I - ' L |
! eyt = - , E 1
|
i * v |
~ :
- -
1 - -
T v .
oy
- . .
w -
3 L "
Bl =
k T
¥
R
]
crcm e Wi .
- Pl - * u \
il a1 Lx
Y
ARSI AP RS Tt
iR g EXTAED
EUSTHG AT WAy iy
A BLACHES
o ."' I
- SRR M T Y
} ey
#
i Y O
H -
~ ESTHG SV W
E ..‘
_’—"“ an

| ey -
oy

fparci b

DO MOT SCALE

- HOTER

i, AT AL PR TS ARSI,

2 CRAAG TE BE PSVTED M COLOUE:

B CoeaCMS AP 5 TR S LML TR

STATED

SIGH LOCATICRS ARE SH0M INICATIVEL Y ARD) ASE

T3 B AGREED W TH EMEMEER: Oy ST

S PECPOGED SIGHS TC B ACCOSDASCE W
THAGE A AN TRAFTIC SSGA2% MAMAL

B AL UGS WAV MACALRITIG HERGIT O 1

UG LTRSS

ERSETY PLANTERS

\\\I}

[

Sty o, o, LT TN, 3

L 1 8
=
leml'lcﬂl
-
E1 L¥TLE ROUTE
WERYITREE AND MEWTOWN SECTION
T
LAIEM THROAD
WOOAL FLTERFLIK
TEUFCRARY WORME
- —— —
T [
vomau - C ]
—— 3
TS IWARHUF 03 ]
© WEP UK Lid

7 Wwal| epuaby



z¢ obed

Scheme Plans: 3 of 5 — Hamlin Lane Physical Modal Filter

7 wa)| epusby

% e e e e [0 NOT BCALE
E & i
3 H .
: H
] B
t
.
. .
3 : -
- . ) e iy TP AT S 1S THARGE aAdabok *
* 18 T EACEPT TS P PLEMENTARY SATE TC THRGD S LoCATIONS
a 544 0 N WA HTIED) O AT DL .
£ e TR
i — = PRCRISED ALANTER
¥
* PRCRSIT AN BOLLARD
Fl » " ™
: b 2 - I -{
—— woma raeR &
- - v weedi ¢
T - T - ot [T T
I : . ATTTT S —
- =TT I - ¥ 1o !
. 1 roa . - 0 — |
» . 2ol
S
. '.
. W
#
L
a
ST 4 AL O B WACAITIE (4 W Bl ST 4 A -
AT A RO AL . R > Hamlin Lane
o PR ST MITORCSLE AN R S TE Playing Field
i ] ¥ THAD DRAGHRAM B AN SLPOLEMENTAR S (l
> o o g — (Recn Gd)
RS SLAMTER: AT 2.t
ARG MCRTH AHED SOUTH, S ST A
Ha
T A
I i 118
Fi H :
i
i
.I_ -
E z
¥ = E
Jpemeteny ", -
H
] e
B "
i o s, o TS T S T TIAGE A e [ Jre: ]
1 18 T ERCTRT CrCLES 5B EMENTARY RATE TC THRGE = [=nrs =1
) [CAMGR A 54,4 T B MOUNTELY O LG MG COLLN
i = RN B I [
i - - = =T "
i P { e [ iw = £2-FORTENDER
— 1
j T T I e
i
i P
oo S — . ws)
2 A B WO [ [ i
| Bod AR [ s Twwes ®
'
4 - T — s G st 1 89,18
: . L e . S
3 S TING LG G COLLI ' N & e
2 — e o .
] PECPCSET PLANTERS. | | e
1 ¥ 4 i L - ) ! N
y v
| | . : Devon
' " . .
i Lw otma s, | e | e s = . N County Councl
T | . . . ’ “
| N E R om - | 71y - =
i “ s % * E3CACLE
4 & . 5 * EANITREE AN K EWT W SECTION
i 3 3
H & — - P, "
i FAML N LEKE
i 5 . woizal, FILTER LA
[ r . 5 TEMPORARY WORKS
P f ¥
| - I gmg £
i =y A p ? . -
1 5 . a—— = £
g T - e - -
i * . e POLIEY BNEFHMF00 |P'.u
i INSET A -y [emmmm—ae——— B i 3 . o WSP K L




ez abed

Scheme Plans: 4 of 5 — Whipton Lane Bus Gate

o 5t b

Yy

T TG DL 8 0
. ST D A, TSR, 0 PRCPLNSEL TN o] B
PLANTER, ELAT i T T B

-
= i et
.y T,
. &£ &
Fa
. o
.
& :
! »
:
.
£ .
. = :
F -
& . —
s
-
n &
» FY
. .
&
»
* %
.
o
| -

TSN LTI 3L

o TR ATATED.

. [ DO NOT SCALE

) S IR TS G
b T . PRI I 0L O
COMENCE SRT M M TRES LN ESS CTHERAISE

' | a s apet SACATVEL Y R AREE
I S TS S M Y
5 R SR TOBE R ACCRTANCE WTH
- ' THAY S50 AT TRATYAL S MARLAL
. B AL e T AV A BTG HERGHT OF 2.
] i 3
*
= * - G LoCATISS
- s
. PROPCSED PLANTER
F3 3
; "
&
h %

S T3 i e PCT WTH
T FASDATER

R b, 340 THIRLAG BELITE S ) SR Ekbitd
74 The [T BUSES MM CoCL ES PP EMENTIRT FLATE

™o CaAhPuied et 8 TS B MACHURTIED 0 L
e -
[ et e .
| T - | EEET ®
I [ s -
gas — ],
T L Lo ¥
TR T — -
7
1
| ==
o -
W
) : \\‘il )
. tarfs taah s Bt
E) e
A
-
13- WEF-HWF006
' £ WSP LK Lig

7 Wwal| epuaby



vz abed

i 9 p DO NOT SCALE

Scheme Plans: 5 of 5 — Vaughan Road Physical Modal Filter

)
o & : S
L - il e L -
P L ¢ HTATRD.
i L In “ 3 e BECATELY A AP
. : i L e S
Ly L . e .
s R s
, 3 o e

- SR WO B LR

7 wa)| epusby

o -'",_-: 7
E‘J .
'\:} F J i
A m 0
AR A k3
L*r\-\-.."'--..-?l Ll
N T
:,-;':“:’.-". L=
Pt e,
N Y
s A T
""1,_\”I .
. J /
: i ,f‘\_"--‘
- e o i) I [ T 1
Tt g o e I e ==
e”h? t: - o] = | e ==
i T weREem

\\‘\I)

| e, Sy S S . £ L
R
-

=

Devon
County Coan|

PRI WO BALARD

R i S TR RO S T PSRt (AR

B e RO MR A T B YT -7 Y TS L Y ST T 0 R R g T S A Sl 1 ST TOMD et e I 5150 Pl B

- T R DV R S LN TR T FLATE T T - —
G 4 [0 WL TR o L K= e 0 L “ o,
ey , EXCPILE RUTE
HE&ANTT d__: :"m o L S - (=] HERNTTREE ARD REWTWS SECTION
— i - / T .
2% | = ot F— ; T =
o i CCT [T rm Glem —— VALIGHEN ROAD OFTION 2
1 e
s - S, | L= - 1\;!..\.1.n— P
. e —Tr | ers (P el T,
e s BME S / ! —
T N I cycles |- } —1 'I.ﬁ-‘-1 T - i
== =y A — ] ) = — ot
- e Thw W R et R o, L . ke ""}, g ™ P
& T | L T Lr = =
. =4 _J 3 h L a7 OG5 B RS | P2
L - F i -
r =+ r b L sl
e 1 INBET & - s ] ] . .'.I T ) WEP UK Lid




Appendix 2 to CET/23/38
RNIB Inclusive Street Design Checklist

Agenda Item 4

Item

DCC Response

1. Are all pavements, walkways and routes
pedestrians would use kept free for
pedestrian use only — i.e. are they always
separated from vehicles by a detectable
kerb (minimum 60mm upstand)?

No changes in status of footways proposed
during trial. However, scheme may make
people feel safer cycling on road, reducing
their propensity to cycle on footways.

2. Are there enough pedestrian-only routes
to take people safely from the start to the
end of their walking journeys (for example,
from shops or residential areas to public
transport)?

No new pedestrian-only routes proposed
during trial. However, scheme likely to reduce
conflicts with vehicles during walking journeys.

3. Do roads and cycleways have
accessible, signal-controlled crossings so
pedestrians can cross safely?

No changes proposed during trial.

4. Do all pavements, walkways and routes
pedestrians would use have clear and
unobstructed pathways at least two metres
(6.6 feet) wide?

No changes proposed during trial.

5. Are transport hubs like train stations, bus
stops, and community facilities easily
accessible for everyone?

No changes to transport hubs proposed during
trial. Trial scheme designed to facilitate access
to key community facilities as easily as
practicable whilst maintaining integrity of
modal filter scheme.

6. Is access for disabled people travelling in
cars or taxis maintained on pedestrianised
or low-traffic routes?

Vehicular access maintained on all roads.
However, disabled people in cars or taxis may
need to take alternative routes to access
properties.

7. Do new designs or proposed changes
comply with existing guidance on
accessibility? For example, do they provide
good colour contrast and correctly installed
tactile paving in a way that minimises its
potential negative impact on wheelchair
users?

No new tactile paving proposed during trial.
However, modal filters will be sufficiently wide
to enable mobility scooters, wheelchairs, non-
standard cycles etc. to pass, in line with LTN
1/20 (Cycle Infrastructure Design guidance).

8. Have new designs or proposed changes
been consulted on, and undergone Equality
Impact Assessments?

Concept of modal filter packages subject to
public consultation, and modifications
subsequently made to scheme design. Key
stakeholders engaged re. detailed design, with
further public consultation during trial (if

Page 25




Agenda ltem 4

Item

DCC Response

approved). Impact Assessment to be
published in advance of HATOC.

9. Have any accessibility issues highlighted
in the consultation or Equality Impact
Assessment processes been resolved?

Impact Assessment to be published in
advance of HATOC. However, impact on
vehicular journey lengths infeasible to fully
resolve if integrity of modal filter scheme
maintained.

10. Have all local people been informed of
changes made to their local area, including
those who may need different information
formats?

Area-wide engagement planned prior to
implementation of scheme, incorporating
different information formats. Seeking
professional comms support to deliver this.

Active Streets Heavitree and Whipton Trial Scheme - Final

Page 26




Devon &
Impact Assessment

Assessment of: Heavitree and Whipton Active Streets Trial
Service: Climate Change, Environment and Transport

Head of Service: Meg Booth
o

Q
‘@ersion / date of sign off by Head of Service: 9 June 2023
N

\'
Assessment carried out by (job title): Transport Planning Officer

1. Description of project / service / activity / policy under review
The project involves the implementation of a trial modal filter package on residential streets within Heavitree and Whipton, Exeter, to remove
through traffic and encourage walking, wheeling and cycling in the area.

2. Reason for change / review

Two previous phases of public consultation (in 2020 and 2021) highlighted community concerns regarding the impacts of traffic and lack of priority

for people walking and cycling within Heavitree and Whipton. Modal filters implemented elsewhere (both within Exeter and in other parts of the

country) have been shown to be a means of significantly reducing vehicular traffic volumes on residential streets and thus creating safer and more
1



https://www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets/heavitree-and-whipton-phase-1-consultation/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/exeterstreets/heavitree-and-whipton-phase-2-consultation/

attractive conditions for walking, wheeling and cycling. Therefore, it is considered that package of modal filters in the Heavitree and Whipton area
may help address the aforementioned community concerns, at a significantly reduced cost compared to other types of intervention (e.g. dedicated
cycle lanes).

3. Aims / objectives, limitations and options going forwards (summary)
Aims/Objectives

The aims of this project are to:

e Create a better environment for walking, wheeling and cycling;

e Create an environment more conducive to community interaction;
e Reduce the perceived negative effects of traffic on the area;

e Improve public health and wellbeing; and

g e Contribute to the Exeter Transport Strategy target for 50% of journeys within Exeter to be made by foot or cycle by 2030.

(PEJ'mitations

A limitation of the project is that the achievement of the above aims will be dependent on public behavioural responses to the trial, in particular
the propensity of people to switch from the car to walking, cycling or public transport for certain journeys. Though many schemes elsewhere have
resulted in significant reductions in traffic on residential streets, the magnitude of the change can vary significantly from location to location, for
example due to varying levels of car ownership in the scheme area. In light of this, a comprehensive monitoring programme will be undertaken to
quantify changes in walking, cycling and traffic levels, and measure the success of the trial.

Options going forward

One option would be to implement point closures in different locations. However, alternative options leaving certain routes open to through traffic
were less well-received during the Phase 2 Consultation, and would also likely reduce the extent of changes in walking, cycling and traffic levels.

Alternatively, different types of infrastructure could be used to reduce traffic and/or support people walking and cycling, including:


https://www.devon.gov.uk/roadsandtransport/traffic-information/transport-planning/innovasump/

¢ Installing 'No motor vehicles (Except for access)’ signage at the boundaries of the scheme area
e Installing additional traffic calming measures, e.g. speed humps and/or chicanes
e Providing dedicated facilities for people cycling, e.g. on-road cycle lanes

However, the former two options are considered unlikely to reduce traffic volumes as significantly as the proposed package of modal filters, and
thus would likely do less to enable people to walk, wheel or cycle. The latter option would also be unlikely to reduce traffic volumes as significantly,
and would be significantly more expensive to construct on an area-wide basis, and would likely require the removal of significant on-street parking.

4. People affected, diversity profile and analysis of needs’
The people likely to be most significantly impacted by the changes are those living in the Heavitree and Whipton area. For the purposes of this

analysis, 2021 Census data for Output Areas (areas with approximately 300 residents) fully or partially within the scheme area have been compared
with the Exeter, Devon and England averages. Colour-coded maps are used to represent demographic differences within the scheme area.

‘Hge

«Q

MPs shown below, the age profile of the scheme area was approximately in line with the Exeter and national averages and somewhat younger than
Bwe Devon average at the 2021 Census, with 22% in the child/teenage (0-19) age range, 60% in the 20-64 age range and 17% in the older (65+) age

range.

Scheme Area | Exeter | Devon | England
Total population 16,552 | 130,709 | 811,638 | 56,490,048
% 0-19 22% 23% 20% 23%
% 20-64 60% 60% 54% 58%
% 65+ 17% 17% 26% 18%

' Please note that, due to rounding errors, some of the percentages in the tables below may not sum to 100%. Additionally, total population figures may vary slightly between
datasets, as, according to Nomis, ‘In order to protect against disclosure of personal information, records have been swapped between different geographic areas and counts
perturbed by small amounts. Small counts at the lowest geographies will be most affected.’



Within the scheme area, there are particularly high proportions of older people in the Honeylands Drive (near Whipton Barton Schools), Sweetbrier
Lane, Whipton Lane and Ringswell Avenue/Birchy Barton Hill areas. Proportions of children/teenagers are particularly high on Hamlin Lane (near

Higher Cemetery) and Whipton Barton areas and the area immediately northeast of Livery Dole, the latter likely influenced by the University of
Exeter's Rowancroft accommodation being located there.

21 éué;;;;i o ¢ | Percentage of“PopuIai
Wik ! [

s Aged 0-19
Outside area

3 @ a2 Southam Sl
0 Crown copyright. All rights reserved.
£1100019783. 2023




i . Pefcéniage of Popﬁi'ation aged 65+ (2021 Cenéus) gt
AL ) - ST — B W SEA B N X = : AN A 3
s :—_7:_7_--*—;—:-——-—‘1~ 7qu$|6e:: TRl i I8 71

Rolsloe Priory2 ?_-_.-Eridge_i_"

.ﬁi)g;ggii‘ At RN

] erome s -

%Aged 65+ | - S
Outside area o 427 my

I <o 7 F\":\)

| 10-20% 's

¢ Southam s
Crown copyright. All rights reserved
= 00019783. 2023

== =SS e ——

| 20-30% g8 Ahe [N, N
B Hospl==="li.}

) Haspll{ i ARSIy spars oo e e ST
JLY)

Q

(%\ccording to 2019 National Travel Survey data, younger people (aged 0-20) tend to be more reliant on walking and cycling than those aged 21-59
¢nd older people (aged 60+), making 36% of trips by cycle or foot, compared with 26% and 23%, respectively. Conversely, older people tend to
Fhake a higher proportion by private vehicles (e.g. cars, vans and motorcycles) than those aged 21-59 and (to a greater extent) younger people.

Health and disability

As shown below, the proportion of people in the scheme area (18%) who are classed as disabled under the Equality Act was in line with the Exeter
and England averages, and slightly lower than the Devon average. The proportion of people in the scheme area who identified as being in bad or

very bad health was 5%, and the proportion in fair health was 12%, with the remaining 83% being in good or very good health. These latter figures
were largely in line with the Exeter, Devon and England averages.


https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics

Scheme Area | Exeter Devon England
Total population 16,534 | 130,709 | 811,640 | 56,490,048
% Disabled under the Equality Act 18% 18% 20% 17%
% Not disabled under the Equality Act 82% 82% 80% 83%
% (Very) bad health 5% 5% 5% 5%
% Fair health 12% 12% 13% 13%
% (Very) good health 83% 84% 81% 82%

The distribution of people who were disabled or in (very) bad health to some extent mirrored the distribution of older people within the scheme
area, reflecting the increasing rates of disability and poor health in older age groups. Proportions of disabled people and people in bad health
were in general higher in Whipton (the area northeast of the Avocet railway line) than Heavitree, and were particularly high in the Vaughan

Road/Bonville Close and Hillyfield Road areas.

entage of quality Act : ol 0 e Pé}cehtaéé ofvP’d;"JulatiBn in Bad oerery[Bé(*j‘
= AR — TS TR o) 3
.

T T Y ap-w ! \ T I
(o i b ipt \ 3 i o

s La)1q g - e T 7
'Dscnemeﬁounomy o) t IS o 4 3 ‘Dsnhemsﬂnum‘]aw

% Disabled oy ~ S ) | ||% Bad Health

Outside area

Outside area

s R

© Crown
THE S 1100019783, 2023

o ?ﬁﬁ.ﬁ = =




According to National Travel Survey data, on average, disabled people make considerably fewer trips by all modes (840 per annum) than non-
disabled people (1,014 per annum). The proportion of trips by each mode is broadly similar for disabled and non-disabled people, except for cycle
(non-disabled people make a greater proportion of trips) and local bus (disabled people make a greater proportion of trips).

Car/van availability

As shown below, at the 2021 Census, 1in 4 (25%) households in the scheme area did not have a car or van, whilst a further 47% only had one car

or van. Car ownership in the scheme area was therefore lower than both the Devon and national averages, particularly in the Whipton & Barton
ward.

Scheme Area | Exeter | Devon | England
Total households 6,827 | 52,554 | 352,620 | 23,436,085
% No car/van 25% 25% 16% 24%
% 1 car/van 47% 45% 42% 41%
qy % 2+ cars/vans 28% 30% 43% 35%

%he proportion of households with no car or van was in general higher in Whipton, particularly in the Whipton Barton area, than in Heavitree.
Chhere were also significant concentrations of no-car households in the Carlyon Close, Thornpark Rise, Homefield Road/North Street and St John's
Road/Park Road (near Henry's Bar) areas, with more than 50% of households having no car or van in some Output Areas.



PR e A WA= | L Lot = TR Z T AR A 2 o = T A AN i IOV A

R i Percentage of Hou“seholds with No Car or Van (2021 Census) g

Qutside Area

0%

10-20%

0.30% 7 <, ”E% INTEA & i BB %? / i '
i ‘Hospl Dicp @9 o & B 7 Y 100019783, 2023
i S R A PIEES e I——

As in Devon and England overall, there were slightly more females than males in the study area at the 2021 Census.

Scheme Area | Exeter | Devon | England
Total population 16,532 | 130,709 | 811,640 | 56,490,048
% Female 52% 51% 51% 51%
% Male 48% 49% 49% 49%

The proportion of females was particularly high in the Hamlin Lane (near Higher Cemetery), Livery Dole, South Lawn Terrace, Hill Lane and Lloyd’s
Crescent (near St Boniface's Church) areas.



= P A W RPN LN N o
A e s

| % 3 ge of Population Female
e E[Fm ' '\g-r-r%@wxw A
i : e S e YV hipee
‘T =" kr‘?ﬂ"fm%%@ gffxf_\% : e
i : o
a

e
= '7‘1._’ - — -
Th J ‘ﬁtﬂ__

—

\Jy Female

:E Outside area 5 A > 'E
- b G5 \‘~,n_ R j,.jr ' "t
H 45:60% RIS L=
i : eSS Southan%" ‘,@
¥ it © Crown copyright. All rights reserved.
ﬁ_ >55% +1100019783. 2023
e 7. S— B —

On average, females make fewer trips in total than males, at 734 per person per year versus 878 per person per year. The modal splits for these
trips are mostly similar between the genders, except for local buses (outside London), which are used for 7% of females’ trips, compared to just 4%

for males.

Ethnicity
The significant proportion of residents in the scheme area identified as White at the 2021 Census, however over 700 individuals in the area
identified as Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh, and a further 400 identified as belonging to mixed or multiple ethnic groups.



Scheme Area | Exeter Devon England

Total population 16,546 | 130,707 | 811,642 | 56,490,048
% Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh 4.3% 4.9% 1.5% 9.6%
% Black, Black Br_itish, Black Welsh, 0.8% 0.9% 0.3% 4%
Caribbean or African

% Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups 2.5% 2.5% 1.4% 3.0%
% White 91.2% 90.3% 96.4% 81.0%
% Other ethnic group 1.2% 1.4% 0.5% 2.2%

There were particularly high proportions of non-White people in the Livery Dole and Henry's Bar areas, and significant proportions in the vicinity of
Polsloe Bridge Station, Ladysmith Schools and Whipton Barton Schools.

[ Jsssoma
% Non-White

Ouiside area

o Pérdéhiage o}

f Population of Non-White Ethnicity

L

L
outham 3~

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved.
~.#+1100019783. 2023

|
P

10



5. Stakeholders, their interest and potential impacts
Political stakeholders include:

e The local members of Devon County Council, who are supportive of the trial measures, in view of their potential to encourage greater levels
of walking and cycling within the area;

e Devon County Council as an organisation, the local highway authority responsible for delivering the trial. The trial measures support the
Council’s objectives of tackling the Climate Emergency and encouraging walking and cycling within Exeter (as set out in the Exeter Transport
Strategy); and

e Exeter City Council, the lower-tier authority within whose boundaries the trial will be delivered.

Stakeholders within the transport industry include:

e Local bus operators, in particular Stagecoach South West and Greenslades, whose buses will be permitted through the bus gates, which
prohibit the passage of other vehicular traffic. Stagecoach expressed their support for the proposals during a previous consultation;
Sustrans, a walking and cycling charity that has assisted Devon County Council in numerous engagement activities within Heavitree and
Whipton, and supports schemes to reduce traffic within residential areas; and

)€ abed

e Shared cycle operators, such as Co Bikes, who could stand to benefit if the trial increases cycling levels within Exeter.

Schools, businesses and community organisations based within Heavitree and Whipton are also key stakeholders, insofar as the trial may impact
vehicular access routes to their premises. Devon County Council will work with them throughout the trial period to maximise the potential benefits
and reduce the potential adverse impacts for these organisations.

6. Additional research used to inform this assessment

Demographic data for the scheme area has been sourced from the 2021 Census, whilst data on the demographics of users of particular modes of

transport was sourced from the National Travel Survey. Additionally, impact assessments of other similar schemes, and Transport for All's Pave The
Way report on the impacts of low-traffic neighbourhoods on disabled people, have been used to inform the below equality analysis. Engagement

has also been undertaken with Living Options and the RNIB (Royal National Institute of Blind People).

11


https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf

7. Description of consultation process and outcomes
The development of this trial scheme has been informed by the outcomes of two phases of consultation:

e The Phase 1 Consultation invited respondents to identify the key issues affecting their local streets. Responses indicated that the impacts of
traffic and the lack of priority for pedestrians and cyclists were primary concerns, particularly on Ladysmith Road, Hamlin Lane, Sweetbrier
Lane and Thornpark Rise.

e The Phase 2 Consultation invited feedback on a range of measures designed to address the issues highlighted in Phase 1. Of the options
involving point closures of roads to vehicular traffic, Option 4, which sought to close all routes within Heavitree and Whipton to through
traffic, was supported by the most respondents. However, several location-specific concerns were raised, in response to which arrangement
of the closures has been revised, e.g. by removing the proposed Sweetbrier Lane traffic filters to improve vehicular access to Heavitree
Road.

§. Equality analysis
D
$Biving Due Regard to Equality and Human Rights

The local authority must consider how people will be affected by the service, policy or practice. In so doing we must give due regard to the need
to: eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.

Where relevant, we must take into account the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity,
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, race, and religion and belief. This means considering how people with different needs get the
different services they require and are not disadvantaged, and facilities are available to them on an equal basis in order to meet their needs;

advancing equality of opportunity by recognising the disadvantages to which protected groups are subject and considering how they can be
overcome.

We also need to ensure that human rights are protected. In particular, that people have:

12


https://placebuilder.io/exeterstreets/heavitreeandwhiptonphaseone
https://placebuilder.io/exeterstreets/heavitreeandwhipton

-
Q)
Q
®
W
h

A reasonable level of choice in where and how they live their life and interact with others (this is an aspect of the human right to ‘private and
family life").
An appropriate level of care which results in dignity and respect (the protection to a private and family life, protection from torture and the
freedom of thought, belief and religion within the Human Rights Act and elimination of discrimination and the promotion of good relations
under the Equality Act 2010).
A right to life (ensuring that nothing we do results in unlawful or unnecessary/avoidable death).
The Equality Act 2010 and other relevant legislation does not prevent the Council from taking difficult decisions which result in service
reductions or closures for example, it does however require the Council to ensure that such decisions are:

o Informed and properly considered with a rigorous, conscious approach and open mind, taking due regard of the effects on the
protected characteristics and the general duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations.
Proportionate (negative impacts are proportionate to the aims of the policy decision)
Fair
Necessary
Reasonable, and
Those affected have been adequately consulted.

0O O O O O

sert any cross-cutting or general responses to equality and diversity here, and delete this note...]

13



Characteristics

Potential or actual issues for this
group.

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide

and See RED]

How will the project / service / policy / activity:
e eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage, where necessary.
e advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage
participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’).
o foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and
promoted understanding), if relevant?
In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable
and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim?

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy?

O\ dy ﬂRV\ [

All residents (include
generic equality
Dorovisions)

D

D
D
AN
D

Some residents may find that the
length and duration of certain
vehicular journeys are increased,
due to the closures of certain roads
to vehicular traffic. In the case of
journeys made by taxi, this may
increase the costs of travel.

The trial scheme may also lead to
an increase in traffic on the
boundary roads (Pinhoe Road, Hill
Barton Road, Heavitree Road and
Polsloe Road), by preventing non-
local journeys from using residential
streets as a cut-through. This may
increase traffic noise and pollution
on the boundary roads.

The scheme is likely to reduce traffic volumes within Heavitree and Whipton,
reducing levels of air pollution and traffic noise and associated illnesses.

Motor vehicles can pose a danger to pedestrians and cyclists, increasing levels
of stress and fear among pedestrians and cyclists, and deterring people from
making some journeys on foot or by cycle. This may prevent people from
taking advantage of certain opportunities, e.g. it may prevent people from
travelling to social events or from visiting certain shops. Therefore, by
reducing traffic volumes within Heavitree and Whipton, the trial scheme may
increase the extent to which people relying on walking and cycling can
participate in their community.

By encouraging greater levels of walking and cycling, the trial scheme may
improve public health and wellbeing, and reduce the social impacts of
conditions such as obesity.

The trial scheme will be implemented through Experimental Traffic Regulation
Orders, which enable highway authorities to modify temporary schemes
during the first 6 months of operation. Therefore, Devon County Council will

14



https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy

Characteristics

Potential or actual issues for this
group.

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide

and See RED]

How will the project / service / policy / activity:
e eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage, where necessary.
e advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage
participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’).
o foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and
promoted understanding), if relevant?
In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable
and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim?

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy?

be able to revise the number and location of traffic filters to mitigate
unforeseen issues and maximise the benefits of the trial.

T obed

15



https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy

2 "\RV\ ]
oy ovcqg

Age

As noted above, older people (aged
60+) tend to make a higher
proportion of trips by private
vehicle than children/teenagers
(aged 0-19) and people aged 20-59.
Therefore, older people may be
particularly impacted by the
increases in vehicular journey
lengths arising from this scheme.

The increased vehicular journey
lengths may lead to some
individuals deciding not to make
certain journeys. This may lead to
increased social isolation, which
older people are particularly
vulnerable to, in some individuals.

Children may particularly benefit from this scheme, as children are particularly
vulnerable to road safety issues associated with vehicular traffic. Therefore, by
reducing traffic in Heavitree and Whipton, the trial may give parents greater
confidence in allowing their children to walk or cycle independently, aiding
their development and wellbeing.

Older people have higher rates of disabilities such as deafness and blindness,
which may make them particularly vulnerable to traffic. Therefore, by reducing
traffic in Heavitree and Whipton, the trial may reduce the risk of harm to this
subset of older people.

The consultation proposals have been revised to facilitate easier vehicular
access to the South Lawn Medical Practice, a facility which older people may
be particularly reliant on, particularly those with long-term ill health. Therefore,
this revision has reduced the potential for disadvantage to older people.

The trial scheme will be implemented through Experimental Traffic Regulation
Orders, which enable highway authorities to modify temporary schemes
during the first 6 months of operation. Therefore, Devon County Council will
be able to revise the number and location of traffic filters to mitigate any
unforeseen issues particularly impacting people due to their age.

16



https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/feelings-symptoms-behaviours/feelings-and-symptoms/loneliness-in-older-people/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/feelings-symptoms-behaviours/feelings-and-symptoms/loneliness-in-older-people/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/442236/child-casualties-2013-data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/442236/child-casualties-2013-data.pdf
https://rnid.org.uk/information-and-support/hearing-loss/types-of-hearing-loss-and-deafness/age-related-hearing-loss/?gclid=CjwKCAiA55mPBhBOEiwANmzoQuV53iA53m2UBpPQy2ngFh6BbRV5pPLRi78fOkyN9iioA-fBu8cPExoCoRUQAvD_BwE
https://www.rnib.org.uk/sites/default/files/Sight%20loss%20in%20older%20people%20-%20Guide%20for%20GPs.pdf

Disability (incl. sensory,
mobility, mental health,
learning disability,
neurodiversity, long term
ill health) and carers of
disabled people

o W ﬁRV\ 1
o7 ovtcqg

Some disabled people may be less
able to walk or cycle, and so may be
particularly reliant on cars and/or
taxis. Therefore, some disabled
people may be particularly
impacted by the increases in
vehicular journey lengths arising
from this scheme.

The changes to street layouts

during the trial may cause anxiety or
stress for some disabled people,
such as people with learning
disabilities.

The increased vehicular journey
lengths may lead to some
individuals deciding not to make
certain journeys. Disabled people
may be particularly vulnerable to
isolation arising from not travelling.

Some disabled people, including those with sensory and mobility impairments,
are particularly vulnerable to traffic, due to difficulties perceiving or avoiding
traffic. Therefore, by reducing traffic in Heavitree and Whipton, the trial may
reduce the risk of harm to this subset of disabled people. This was highlighted
by the RNIB in a previous stakeholder engagement session, during which an
RNIB representative expressed strong support for the proposals.

By making the residential streets quieter, the trial may enable wheelchair users
to wheel along the main carriageway, rather than having to negotiate
footways, which may be obstructed and/or uneven. This may enable some
wheelchair users to more easily travel to certain events or premises.

The consultation proposals have been revised to facilitate easier vehicular
access to the South Lawn Medical Practice, a facility which disabled people
may be particularly reliant on, particularly those with long-term ill health.
Therefore, this revision has reduced the potential for disadvantage to disabled
people.

Devon County Council will contact disability groups should the planned
measures be approved, enabling them to inform their members of the
changes, and reducing the risks of disabled people experiencing difficulty
and/or anxiety. The Council will be developing bespoke publicity materials for
the scheme, to ensure the information can be understood by as many
residents as practicable, including disabled people.

The point closures will be designed to allow the passage of non-standard
cycles, such as tricycles, which some disabled people may be reliant on. This
will therefore reduce the potential for disadvantage for users of non-standard
cycles compared to users of bicycles.

17



https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Pave-The-Way-full-report.pdf
https://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/disabled-and-low-income-pedestrians-at-higher-risk-of-road-injury/

Characteristics

Potential or actual issues for this
group.

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide

and See RED]

How will the project / service / policy / activity:

e eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination,

harassment or disadvantage, where necessary.
e advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage
participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’).
o foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and
promoted understanding), if relevant?

In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable

and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim?
Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy?

The trial scheme will be implemented through Experimental Traffic Regulation

Orders, which enable highway authorities to modify temporary schemes

during the first 6 months of operation. Therefore, Devon County Council will

be able to revise the number and location of traffic filters to mitigate any
unforeseen issues particularly impacting people due to their disability.

o - '\RV\ 1
7 ovcd

18



https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy

Characteristics

Potential or actual issues for this
group.

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide

and See RED]

How will the project / service / policy / activity:
e eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage, where necessary.
e advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage
participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’).
o foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and
promoted understanding), if relevant?
In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable
and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim?

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy?

W ’\RV\ [

Culture and ethnicity: N/A N/A
nationality/national origin,
ethnic origin/race, skin
golour, religion and belief
gSex, gender and gender N/A By reducing traffic on streets within Heavitree and Whipton, the trial is likely to
Didentity (including men, make the area more conducive to cycling, which may help address the
?women, non-binary and disparity in cycling levels between men and women, as road safety issues are a
transgender people), and significant barrier to women cycling. This may enable women to access more
pregnancy and maternity opportunities by cycle, thus helping reduce wider gender imbalances, e.g. in
(including women'’s right employment.
to breastfeed)
Sexual orientation and N/A N/A

marriage/civil partnership

19



https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S221414051830121X
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S221414051830121X
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2930/2930.pdf
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2930/2930.pdf

Characteristics

Potential or actual issues for this
group.

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide

and See RED]

How will the project / service / policy / activity:
e eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage, where necessary.
e advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage
participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’).
o foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and
promoted understanding), if relevant?
In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable
and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim?

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy?

o+ 2By g
S N

Other relevant socio-
economic factors such as
amily size/single
Dpeople/lone parents,
pincome/deprivation,
Bhousing, education and
skills, literacy, sub-cultures,
‘digital exclusion’, access
to transport options,
rural/urban

Some people who are digitally
excluded may be particularly
adversely impacted by the trial, as
they may be unable to conduct
activities (e.g. banking, shopping)
online and thus reliant on travelling
to shops, banks etc. If this travel is
by car, some journeys to these
amenities may be extended.

By making walking and cycling relatively more attractive compared to the car
for short journeys, the trial is likely to reduce disadvantages in relation to
access to opportunities or services for those without access to a car. As car
ownership is lower in lower income groups, this is also likely to reduce
disadvantages for those in lower income groups.

For digitally excluded people who are reliant on walking, cycling or bus
services, journeys to amenities (shops, banks etc.) may become shorter, safer
or more pleasant, due to the reduction in vehicular traffic within Heavitree and
Whipton. This may reduce the disadvantages they experience compared to
those able to conduct activities online.

20



https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy

9. Human rights considerations:
N/A

10. Supporting independence, wellbeing and resilience. Give consideration to the groups listed
above and how they may have different needs:

In what way can you support and create opportunities for people and communities (of place and interest) to be independent,

empowered and resourceful?
By reducing traffic levels within Heavitree and Whipton, the trial may give people greater confidence to travel independently, and/or give

guardians greater confidence to allow their children to travel independently. For example, it may give children greater confidence to walk to school
independently, or give women greater confidence to cycle independently (as noted above, road safety issues are a particularly significant deterrent
to cycling among women). Therefore, the trial may enable people to more easily and safely access opportunities, helping empower them.

&n what way can you help people to be safe, protected from harm, and with good health and wellbeing?
reducing traffic levels within Heavtree and Whipton, the trial will likely reduce the risk of harm from road traffic collisions, particularly for

Pedestrians and cyclists. It will also encourage higher levels of walking and cycling, thus improving the health and wellbeing of local residents.

Many residents living close to temporary road closures implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic have reported that the changes have
improved their quality of life, by reducing the impact of traffic noise and pollution on their streets, and improving community cohesion. It is
intended that this trial will deliver similar benefits across the Heavitree and Whipton area.

In what way can you help people to be connected, and involved in community activities?
By reducing traffic levels within Heavitree and Whipton, the trial may enable the function of local streets to be expanded beyond simply facilitating

the movement of traffic. For example, it may make it safer for children to play in their local streets, or facilitate pop-up community events. The trial
may therefore improve connections between community members.

21



11. Environmental analysis

An impact assessment should give due regard to the following activities in order to ensure we meet a range of environmental legal duties. The

policy or practice does not require the identification of environmental impacts using this Impact Assessment process because it is subject to (please

mark X in the relevant box below and proceed to the 4c, otherwise complete the environmental analysis table):

Devon County Council’s Environmental Review Process

Planning Permission

Environmental Impact Assessment

Strategic Environmental Assessment

gy abed

22




Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

Reduce, reuse, recycle and
compost:

N/A

N/A

"\RV\ [

Conserve and enhance N/A The point closures will incorporate planters, which will
wildlife: support pollinators and by extension the wider local
ecosystem.
The reductions in traffic on residential streets may reduce
the risks to wildlife, such as squirrels and hedgehogs.
Safeguard the distinctive N/A N/A
O haracteristics, features and
gspecial qualities of Devon'’s
Dlandscape:
cConserve and enhance Devon's | N/A N/A

cultural and historic heritage:

Minimise greenhouse gas
emissions:

By making certain vehicular journeys longer, the
greenhouse gas emissions associated with certain
journeys may increase.

By making walking, wheeling and cycling relatively more
attractive compared to car, the scheme is expected to
encourage modal shift towards modes of transport which
generate less greenhouse gas emissions.

23




Minimise pollution (including
air, land, water, light and
noise):

By making certain vehicular journeys longer, the
pollutant emissions associated with certain journeys

may increase.

The trial scheme may displace some traffic onto the
boundary roads, contributing to air pollution on
these roads. To monitor the extent of any traffic
displacement, a series of traffic counts will be
conducted across the Heavitree and Whipton area
and on the boundary roads.

By making walking, wheeling and cycling relatively more
attractive compared to car, the scheme is expected to
encourage modal shift towards modes of transport which
generate less pollution (particularly air and noise pollution).

Peffects of climate change
warmer, wetter winters; drier,
hotter summers; more intense
storms; and rising sea level):

faVal "\RV\ [

Contribute to reducing water | N/A N/A
g-onsumption:
gEnsure resilience to the future | N/A The installation of planters at the proposed modal filter

locations may marginally reduce local surface
temperatures, as vegetation has a cooling effect. This may

marginally reduce the extent of long-term temperature
increases due to climate change.

Other (please state below):

24



https://girs.bushehr.iau.ir/article_682083.html?lang=en

12. Economic analysis

TG obed

25



Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

Impact on knowledge and
skills:

— "\RV\ 1
¢S ovutqg

The trial scheme may increase the length and
duration of some vehicular routes to institutions
offering education or training.

The trial scheme may make it easier and safer for potential
employees to reach institutions offering education or training
on foot or by cycle. This may mean that some people reliant
on walking and cycling are able to access education or
training they would have otherwise been unable or unwilling
to travel to access.

Research by the University of Birmingham and Phil Jones

Associates found that children who walk or cycle to school
tend to be more attentive and achieve better results.
Therefore, by enabling walking or cycling to school, the
proposed scheme may improve attainment among local

pupils.

26



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf

Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

Impact on employment levels:

la¥al "\RV\ 1
o uvutqg

The trial scheme may increase the length and
duration of some vehicular routes to employment
sites.

The trial scheme may make it easier and safer for potential
employees to reach employment sites on foot or by cycle.
This may mean that some people reliant on walking and
cycling are able to access jobs they would have otherwise
been unable or unwilling to travel to.

Research by the University of Birmingham and Phil Jones

Associates found that;

e Facilitation of cycling to work leads to lower staff
turnover

e Cycling facilities can overcome difficulties in accessing
employment opportunities

e Cycling reduces absenteeism, boosting productivity:
regular cyclists take one less sick day per year

Therefore, by enabling walking or cycling to work, the
proposed scheme may improve productivity of local
employers.

27



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf

Describe any actual or potential negative

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive

duration of some vehicular routes to local
business premises. It may thus increase travel-
related costs for some customers and employees
of local businesses.

consequences. outcomes.
(Consider how to mitigate against these). (Consider how to improve as far as possible).
Impact on local business: The trial scheme may increase the length and The trial scheme may make it easier and safer for potential

customers to reach local business premises on foot or by

cycle. This may mean that some people reliant on walking
and cycling are able to access businesses they would have
otherwise been unable or unwilling to travel to.

Research by the University of Birmingham and Phil Jones

Associates found that cyclists visit local shops more regularly,
spending more than users of most other modes of transport.

SE Therefore, by enabling cycling to shops, the proposed
‘fg scheme may increase turnover for local businesses.
(C3)

N

13. Describe and linkages or conflicts between social, environmental and economic impacts

(Combined Impacts):

Schemes such as these typically significantly reduce traffic on residential streets, delivering environmental and social benefits to the local area, e.g.

by reducing traffic noise and pollution. The trial scheme may also deliver some economic benefits, by increasing the ease with which local

businesses and employers can be accessed by those reliant on walking or cycling. However, by design, the scheme will make certain vehicular

journeys longer, by closing vehicular through routes, which may increase the generalised cost of travel (considering both journey times and direct

financial costs) for local residents and businesses. The scheme may also displace some traffic onto the boundary roads (Pinhoe Road, Hill Barton

Road, Heavitree Road and Polsloe Road), increasing congestion and air pollution on these roads.

28



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf

14. How will the economic, social and environmental well-being of the relevant area be
improved through what is being proposed? And how, in conducting the process of

procurement, might that improvement be secured?
The trial scheme is expected to reduce traffic on the residential streets within Heavitree and Whipton, thus improving the social and environmental

wellbeing of the area by reducing the adverse impact of vehicular traffic (e.g. in terms of pollution and noise). It may also improve the economic
wellbeing of the area by increasing the ease with which local businesses and employers can be accessed by those reliant on walking or cycling.

15. How will impacts and actions be monitored?
The impacts of the trial on walking, cycling and traffic levels is proposed to be monitored using a series of traffic counts, both on residential streets

and on the boundary roads (Pinhoe Road/Hill Barton Road/Fore Street/Polsloe Road). We may also consider collision records, bus journey times

and air quality data in quantifying the extent to which the trial scheme has achieved its objectives.

Bthe proposed scheme is approved and implemented, a statutory consultation will be undertaken regarding the Experimental Traffic Regulation
%rders necessary to deliver the scheme. This will enable the County Council to better understand the qualitative impacts of the scheme on local
S}Sidents and organisations, and may enable the Council to modify the scheme to reduce adverse impacts and increase benefits.

The County Council is also planning to undertake a series of engagement events during the trial period, to capture further feedback regarding the
scheme’s impacts. If members of the public provide personal details, such as age/gender, this may also be recorded, to enable the Council to
evaluate any differential impacts of the scheme on particular demographic groups (all personal data will be processed in accordance with the

General Data Protection Regulation).

29






	Agenda
	A G E N D A
	Meetings Information and notes for visitors
	Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
	Membership of a Committee
	Committee Terms of Reference
	Access to Information
	Public Participation
	Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
	Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council
	WiFI
	Fire
	First Aid
	Mobile Phones
	Alternative Formats
	Induction Loop available


	4 Active Streets Heavitree and Whipton Trial Scheme
	1)	Recommendation
	2)	Background / Introduction
	3)	Proposal
	4)	Options / Alternatives
	5)	Consultations / Representations / Technical Data
	6)	Strategic Plan
	7)	Financial Considerations
	8)	Legal Considerations
	9)	Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change)
	10)	Equality Considerations
	11)	Risk Management Considerations
	12)	Summary / Conclusions / Reasons for Recommendations
	Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers
	Appendix 1 to CET/23/38
	Appendix 2 to CET/23/38
	Impact Assessment Heavitree and Whipton Active Streets Trial
	Assessment of: Heavitree and Whipton Active Streets Trial
	Service: Climate Change, Environment and Transport
	Head of Service: Meg Booth
	Version / date of sign off by Head of Service: 9 June 2023
	Assessment carried out by (job title): Transport Planning Officer
	1. Description of project / service / activity / policy under review
	2. Reason for change / review
	3. Aims / objectives, limitations and options going forwards (summary)
	4. People affected, diversity profile and analysis of needs
	5. Stakeholders, their interest and potential impacts
	6. Additional research used to inform this assessment
	7. Description of consultation process and outcomes
	8. Equality analysis
	Giving Due Regard to Equality and Human Rights

	9. Human rights considerations:
	10. Supporting independence, wellbeing and resilience. Give consideration to the groups listed above and how they may have different needs:
	In what way can you support and create opportunities for people and communities (of place and interest) to be independent, empowered and resourceful?
	In what way can you help people to be safe, protected from harm, and with good health and wellbeing?
	In what way can you help people to be connected, and involved in community activities?
	11. Environmental analysis
	12. Economic analysis
	13. Describe and linkages or conflicts between social, environmental and economic impacts (Combined Impacts):
	14. How will the economic, social and environmental well-being of the relevant area be improved through what is being proposed?  And how, in conducting the process of procurement, might that improvement be secured?
	15. How will impacts and actions be monitored?



